

PROTOCOL

(Version 7.0, 28-5-2024)

Indication and selection of patients with colorectal carcinoma liver metastases eligible for liver transplantation

> Authors M.T. de Boer, MD, PhD M.E. Tushuizen, MD PhD and C.I. Buis, MD, PhD





PROTOCOL TITLE

Indication and selection of patients with colorectal carcinoma liver metastases eligible for liver transplantation

Protocol ID	GE20-01	
Short title	LTx in CRC Liver Metastases	
Version	7.0	
Date	28-05-2024	
Project leaders	Dr. M.T. de Boer	
	HPB and Liver Transplant Surgeon	
	Dept. of Transplantation and Hepatobiliary Surgery	
	UMCG	
	PO Box 30.001, 9700 RB	
	Groningen	
	T: +31 50 3612896	
	F: +31 50 3611745	
	E: m.t.de.boer@umcg.nl	
	Dr. M.E. Tushuizen	
	Gastroenterologist/hepatologist	
	Dept. of Gastroenterology and Hepatology	
	LUMC	
	PO Box 9600, 2300 RC	
	Leiden, the Netherlands	
	T: +31 71 5263541	
	F: +31 71 5248115	
	E: m.e.tushuizen@lumc.nl	
	Dr. W.G. Polak	
	HPB and Liver Transplant Surgeon	
	Dept of Surgery	
	Erasmus MC	
	PO Box 2040, 3000 CA	
	Rotterdam, The Netherlands	
	T: +31 10 704 01 49	
	F: +31 10 7035058	



	Dr. C.I. Buis
	HPB and Liver Transplant Surgeon
	Dept. of Transplantation and Hepatobiliary Surgery
	UMCG
	PO Box 30.001, 9700 RB
	Groningen
	T: +31 50 3612896
	F: +31 50 3611745
	E: c <u>.i.buis@umcg.nl</u>
	Prof. C. Verhoef
	HPB Surgeon
	Dept of Surgery
	Erasmus MC
	PO Box 2040, 3000 CA
	Rotterdam, The Netherlands
	T: +31 10 704 00 92
	F: +31 10 7035058
	E:c.verhoef@erasmusmc.nl
Participants	UMCG
	Dept. of Transplantation and Hepatobiliary Surgery
	Dept. of Transplantation and Hepatobiliary Surgery Prof. V.E. de Meijer
	Prof. V.E. de Meijer
	Prof. V.E. de Meijer HPB and Liver Transplant Surgeon
	Prof. V.E. de Meijer HPB and Liver Transplant Surgeon Dept. of Gastroenterology and Hepatology
	Prof. V.E. de Meijer HPB and Liver Transplant Surgeon <i>Dept. of Gastroenterology and Hepatology</i> Dr. F. Van Vilsteren
	Prof. V.E. de Meijer HPB and Liver Transplant Surgeon <i>Dept. of Gastroenterology and Hepatology</i> Dr. F. Van Vilsteren hepatologist
	Prof. V.E. de Meijer HPB and Liver Transplant Surgeon <i>Dept. of Gastroenterology and Hepatology</i> Dr. F. Van Vilsteren hepatologist Dr D. Hotho
	Prof. V.E. de Meijer HPB and Liver Transplant Surgeon <i>Dept. of Gastroenterology and Hepatology</i> Dr. F. Van Vilsteren hepatologist Dr D. Hotho Hepatologist
	Prof. V.E. de Meijer HPB and Liver Transplant Surgeon <i>Dept. of Gastroenterology and Hepatology</i> Dr. F. Van Vilsteren hepatologist Dr D. Hotho Hepatologist <i>Dept. of Oncology</i>
	Prof. V.E. de Meijer HPB and Liver Transplant Surgeon <i>Dept. of Gastroenterology and Hepatology</i> Dr. F. Van Vilsteren hepatologist Dr D. Hotho Hepatologist <i>Dept. of Oncology</i> Dr. D.J.A de Groot
	 Prof. V.E. de Meijer HPB and Liver Transplant Surgeon <i>Dept. of Gastroenterology and Hepatology</i> Dr. F. Van Vilsteren hepatologist Dr D. Hotho Hepatologist <i>Dept. of Oncology</i> Dr. D.J.A de Groot Medical oncologist
	Prof. V.E. de Meijer HPB and Liver Transplant Surgeon Dept. of Gastroenterology and Hepatology Dr. F. Van Vilsteren hepatologist Dr D. Hotho Hepatologist Dept. of Oncology Dr. D.J.A de Groot Medical oncologist Dr. J. van Rooijen
	Prof. V.E. de Meijer HPB and Liver Transplant Surgeon Dept. of Gastroenterology and Hepatology Dr. F. Van Vilsteren hepatologist Dr D. Hotho Hepatologist Dept. of Oncology Dr. D.J.A de Groot Medical oncologist Dr. J. van Rooijen
	Prof. V.E. de Meijer HPB and Liver Transplant Surgeon Dept. of Gastroenterology and Hepatology Dr. F. Van Vilsteren hepatologist Dr D. Hotho Hepatologist Dept. of Oncology Dr. D.J.A de Groot Medical oncologist Dr. J. van Rooijen
	Prof. V.E. de Meijer HPB and Liver Transplant Surgeon Dept. of Gastroenterology and Hepatology Dr. F. Van Vilsteren hepatologist Dr D. Hotho Hepatologist Dept. of Oncology Dr. D.J.A de Groot Medical oncologist Dr. J. van Rooijen



Erasmus MC
Dept. of Gastroenterology and Hepatology
Dr. C. den Hoed
Hepatologist
Dr. S. Darwish Murad
Gastroenterologist/hepatologist
Dept. of Surgical Oncology
Dr. D. Grunhagen
LUMC
Dept. of Transplant Surgery
Prof. I.P.J. Alwayn
Transplant Surgeon
Dr. D. Lam
Transplant Surgeon
Dept. of Gastroenterology and Hepatology
Dr. M.E. Tushuizen
Gastroenterologist/hepatologist
Dept. of Oncology
Dr. E. Kapiteijn
Medical oncologist
Dr. F.M. Speetjens
Medical oncologist
AMSTERDAM UMC
Dept. of Surgery
Prof. G. Kazemier
HPB Surgeon
Dr. J.I. Erdmann
HPB Surgeon
Radboud UMC
Dept. of Oncology
Prof. H.M.W. Verheul
Medical oncologist



TABLE OF CONTENTS

1. INTRODUCTION AND RATIONALE	6
1.1 Staging	7
2. PROTOCOL PROCEDURE	7
2.1 Inclusion/Exclusion criteria	8
2.2. Allocation	10
2.3 Validation committee	10
3. SURGERY	10
3.1 Postoperative Regimen	11
3.2 Immunosuppression	11
3.3 Standard anti-rejection therapy	11
3.4 Further treatment	11
3.5 Follow up protocol	11
4. JUSTIFICATION	12
5. EVALUATION	13
6. REFERENCES	13



1. INTRODUCTION AND RATIONALE

Colorectal carcinoma (CRC) is a frequent cancer in western societies. The annual incidence of CRC in the Netherlands is 15,000 per year and half of these patients will develop metastases [1,2]. Median survival for patients with untreated metastatic CRC is approximately 12 months [3,4]. Over the last decade, treatment of patients with colorectal liver metastases (CLM) has markedly improved with advances in patient selection related to improved radiologic imaging and more accurate staging, identification of molecular markers associated with poor outcome, as well as improved systemic therapy [3-6]. Local treatment of the liver metastases is the only potential curative treatment available for resectable CLM with low operative mortality (1-2%) and a 5-year survival of up to 60% [2-8]. Disease recurrence occurs, however, in 70% of patients most often during the first 3 years after surgery [4,5]. Patients with recurrence, as well as those without initial curative surgical treatment options, are routinely treated with palliative chemotherapy, while a subset undergo repeat liver resection, local tumor ablation, radio-embolization, or hepatic artery infusion therapy, with a median overall survival (OS) of 10-38 months [3,6-10]. Moreover, the median survival for patients treated with 5-fluorouracil (5-FU), -leucovorin, irinotecan, with or without oxaliplatin containing regimens (FOLFOXIRI and FOLFIRI, resp.) is approximately 20 months [11]. Antibodies against VEGF (bevacizumab) or EGFR (cetuximab or panitumumab) combined with 5-FU, irinotecan or oxaliplatin have shown an increased response rate, prolonged time to progression and improved survival up to 30 months (in left sided metastatic tumors), with a 5 yr overall survival of 15 to 20% [12-16]. Liver transplantation (LTx) for otherwise irresectable liver metastases has been considered and performed until the 1990s [17,18]. Largely due to high recurrence rates and poor outcomes, the indication for LTx became much more restrictive over time in this patient group. More recently, however, the indications for LTx have expanded to include patients with more advanced hepatic cellular carcinoma (HCC), as well as other primary (eg, hilar cholangiocarcinoma) and metastatic (eg, neuroendocrine metastasis) tumors [17-21]. The use of LTx for metastatic tumors to the liver has been particularly controversial [17,21,22]. Given the systemic nature of metastatic disease, there has been concern that LTx and the associated post-operative immunosuppressive therapy may contribute to unfavorable post-operative outcomes due to decreased native immuno-surveillance that may lead to increased recurrence and poor outcomes [23-27].

Interestingly, advances in CLM treatment and LTx immunosuppression have caused some investigators to call for the re-evaluation of LTx as a treatment option for selected patients with unresectable CLM [22]. However, due to the universal shortage of organs, especially from deceased donors, it is not feasible -or perhaps appropriate- that LTx be used for all patients with unresectable CLM. Rigorous patient selection, as well as a critical review of the outcomes of LTx for CLM is therefore needed to assess whether this therapy is warranted.

The landmark SECA-I study from Norway has attracted extreme attention [28]. In 21 patients who underwent LTx using sirolimus as primary immunosuppression from the first postoperative day, the 5-year overall survival was 60%. Four factors (tumor diameter >5,5 cm, time from primary surgery <2 years, CEA levels >80 μ g/l and progressive disease at the time of LTx) were identified as negative predictors of survival [28-30]. Differences in outcome are undoubtedly related not only to LTx, but also strict patient selection. To this point, patients with poor prognostic risk factors for recurrence and survival after CLM resection were excluded from the SECA study. Although all patients suffered from



recurrent disease, those with pulmonary metastases were relatively indolent compared with those who were found to have hepatic metastases to the transplanted liver [31]. They further showed that LTx achieved a significantly higher OS rate of 56% compared to 9% in a similar cohort of patients with liver only disease treated with first line chemotherapy [32]. Recently the SECA-II study demonstrated that more strict selection criteria can indeed be used to obtain an OS after LTx for CLM comparable to that observed in conventional indications for LTx [33]. At a median follow-up of 36 months the 1,3, and 5 yr overall survival in the SECA-II study was 100%, 83% and 83% respectively. The disease-free survival was 53%, 44% and 35% at 1, 2 and 3 years respectively [33]. Moreover, LTx has been shown to be cost-effective in highly selected patients with CLM compared to chemotherapy alone [34]. In conclusion, following strict selection, patients with irresectable CLM benefit from LTx and therefore we will introduce this indication in the Netherlands.

1.1 Staging

Patients, considered eligible for the protocol will be evaluated for LTx according to institutional protocols. The final decision for inclusion in the study is made at the multidisciplinary transplant conference of the transplant centers Groningen/Leiden/Rotterdam. Only patients with irresectable CLM without evidence of extrahepatic disease are considered for this protocol. In case the patient is eligible for transplantation, the patient has to sign informed consent.

Definition of irresectability:

- R0 Resection or ablation of lesions in the liver is not possible.
- The liver remnant after treatment is smaller than 25-30% in normal livers and smaller than 35-40% in compromised livers (fibrosis/steatosis/cirrhosis).
- Assessment of liver volume should be performed by CT scan, and mebrofenin scintigraphy is strongly advised to asses liver function since systemic therapy is virtually always part of treatment plan.
- There is no opportunity to increase the volume with PVE or other measures, or these techniques have failed.

2. PROTOCOL PROCEDURE

Prior to referral to one of the three liver transplant centers all imaging should be discussed in a local or (if no liver surgery is performed) a regional multi-disciplinary team (MDT) meeting (MDT meeting as standardized by SONCOS). Decision on resectability (see criteria 1.2) is taken by a center that performs liver resections. If the patient meets the inclusion criteria for the protocol, they should be referred to a LTx unit.



2.1 Inclusion/Exclusion criteria

Inclusion Criteria

- Age between 18 and 70 years at time of diagnosis of NRCLM
- Good performance status, ECOG 0 or 1.
- Histologically verified (history of) adenocarcinoma in colon/rectum. Liver metastases, not amenable to liver resection or ablation when assessed at the institutional multidisciplinary tumor board.
- No signs of extra hepatic metastatic disease or local recurrence according to PET scan and CT thorax/abdomen/pelvis within 4 weeks prior to the MDT meeting at the transplant center.
- In case of metachronous presentation:
 - No local recurrence according to MR-pelvis scan in patients with rectal cancer within 4 weeks prior to the MDT meeting at the transplant unit
 - No signs of local recurrence judged by colonoscopy / CT colography within 12 months prior to the MDT meeting at the transplant unit.
 - Minimum interval from diagnosis NRCLM resection to transplant 1 year (ref 41)
- In case of synchronous presentation:
 - Standard surgical procedure with adequate (R0) resection margins including circumferential resection margins (CRM) of at least ≥1mm for rectal cancer patients.
 - Minimum interval from CRC diagnosis to transplant 1 year, minimum interval from CRC resection to transplant 6 months (41).
 - No local recurrence according to MR-pelvis scan in patients with rectal cancer within 4 weeks prior to the MDT meeting at the transplant unit
 - All patients should have received at least 8 weeks of chemotherapy before liver transplantation is considered.
- Patients should have response to chemotherapy (PR) according to RECIST 1.1.
 - Patients with a RECIST response of SD might be candidate for liver transplant if
 - Tumor response of index lesions is at least 10% with no progressive lesions
 - Response to chemotherapy for lesions that do not respond in size can be judged by using Chun criteria. [41,42]
- This response to bridging chemotherapy should be observed for at least 6 months. With a minimal interval from primary CRC diagnosis to transplant of 1 year (41).
- Preferably PET metabolic tumor volume (PET-MTV) is measured on PET scan after a 4 week chemotherapy discontinuation. PET-MTV <70 cm3 shows good prognosis.
- Signed informed consent and expected cooperation of the patients for the treatment and follow up must be obtained and documented according to GCP, and national/local regulations.
- (modified) Oslo score up to 2 (see figure 1)
- Patients should qualify to the general criteria to undergo liver transplantation.



Figure 1: Modified Oslo score 0-2, each factor representing 1 point [33]

Oslo Score	
Maximal Tumor diameter > 5,5 cm	1
Pre transplant CEA > 80 μg/l	1
Time interval: diagnosis to tx < 2 yrs	1

Exclusion Criteria

Patients will be excluded from the protocol if they meet any of the following criteria:

- Primary tumor histology of undifferentiated adenocarcinoma and signet ring cell carcinoma [ref 40,41]
- Radiological or biochemical evidence or both of progressive disease observed while receiving bridging chemotherapy is a contraindication to liver transplantation. The indication can be reconsidered if the patient is responding after a switch in chemotherapy or in case chemotherapy is not an option TACE can be considered.
- Molecular markers associated with poor outcome: BRAF pos [17,36]
- MSI high status, because these patients could profit from immunotherapy.
- Unintentional weight loss >10% during the last 6 months
- Women who are pregnant or breast feeding
- Any reason why, in the opinion of the MDT, the patient could not be included. With this
 sentence we mean that acceptance on the waiting list for liver transplantation is not only
 based on the above mentioned oncological criteria, but the patient should be generally fit for
 transplantation. General in- and exclusion criteria for liver transplantation also account for
 these patients.

Relative Exclusion Criteria:

- Right sided (ascending colon) primary CRC tumor have worse outcome compared to other primary locations.[43,44] Only if patients show a relatively favorable course, (for instance metachronous tumor, long interval between tumor and metastases, low Oslo score, low MTV (<70m3), no BRAF and no RAS mutations) they can be considered for transplantation
- Nodal status of the primary tumor: pN2 status is associated with increased recurrence (local and regional). Since there is no specific data on local recurrence it is not a strict exclusion criterium upfront. However it is important to have at least 9 month follow-up after resection of the primary to exclude local recurrence in case of pN2.



2.2. Allocation

Patients are listed for transplantation according to standard Eurotransplant protocol. Patients will get a non-standard exception (NSE) status: 28 MELD points (decision taken during Dutch Liver Transplantation Board (LOL) meeting LOL, 4th of December 2020). After the patient is listed repeat diagnostics is scheduled every 3 months (CT chest/abdomen + CEA) and performance is checked. If the patient no longer meets the criteria for inclusion, the patient will be taken off the waiting list. We aim for transplantation between 1-2 months from listing. Chemotherapy should be continued, preferentially with capecitabine of 5FU iv monotherapy. Bevacizumab is stopped. The patient condition and blood tests need to be sufficient to undergo a liver transplantation at time of donor offer. In the event of a graft failure, high-urgency application can be submitted.

2.3 Validation committee

The final decision for inclusion is made after consultation of the case by the 3 Dutch transplant centers (similar to hilar cholangiocarcinoma protocol). They will discuss the case in a local validation committee, including HPB surgeon experienced in liver resection for CLM, a medical oncologist, a radiologist, a hepatologist, and a liver transplant surgeon: This committee needs to validate the indication of LTx in view of the oncological history of the patient preferably within one week if work-up is complete.

Policy after inclusion:

Repeat CT chest/abdomen while on waiting list every 3 months. Chemotherapy is continued, but bevacizumab is stopped.

Drop-out after inclusion:

Any sign of extrahepatic disease or tumor progression on imaging while patient is receiving (adequate) chemotherapy and on the waiting list for transplantation If any exclusion criterium is met after inclusion.

Drop out at time of transplantation:

At transplant, first exploratory laparotomy; criteria for premature termination of the procedure: any evidence of extrahepatic disease. Intraoperatively, prior to explantation of the liver, a regional lymph node exam (hepatoduodenal ligament) with frozen section will be performed. Positive regional nodes are considered extrahepatic disease. Any other suspicious lesions should be examined with frozen section.

3. SURGERY

The LTx will be performed according to standard procedures by the institutional protocol (Rotterdam, Leiden or Groningen). The LTx can be performed with a deceased donor liver (full size of split) or a graft from a living donor (right or left lobe according to current local protocols). The RAPID technique (38) is still considered an experimental procedure and should only be performed in trial setting. In case of a deceased liver graft the recipient operation should start as soon as the donor surgeon considers the liver transplantable. This policy saves time to call in a 2nd recipient in case there is extrahepatic disease. To speed up this process a back-up patient is already available. In case of extrahepatic disease and allocation to a back-up patient, Eurotransplant should be informed as soon as possible. The transplant procedure starts with an exploration of the abdomen to exclude extrahepatic disease.



Careful inspection of peritoneum, omentum and lymph nodes is performed. Intraoperatively, prior to explantation of the liver, a regional lymph node exam (hepatoduodenal ligament) with frozen section will be performed. Any other suspicious lesions should be examined with frozen section. Any extrahepatic disease found during explorative laparotomy is a contraindication for transplantation. The transplantation can be performed according to local protocol, as long as tumor free margins can be achieved.

3.1 Postoperative Regimen

After surgery the patient is treated according to standard procedures by the institutional protocol.

3.2 Immunosuppression

The immunosuppression regimen consists of standard induction with basiliximab, corticosteroids and mycophenolic acid (MMF). Tacrolimus is started within the first 5 days post-operatively. MMF can be stopped after reaching adequate trough levels of tacrolimus at discretion of the treating physician. Steroids are tapered during the first 3-6 months After 4-6 weeks, an option is to switch to CNI (tacrolimus) and mTOR inhibitor (sirolimus) combination therapy and aim for a combined through level of Tacrolimus and Sirolimus of 5-7 ng/ml during the first 6 months, thereafter judged on individual basis. There is little evidence to recommend specific immunosuppression strategies in patients undergoing liver transplantation for non-resectable colorectal liver metastases, with data mostly extrapolated from literature on recurrent hepatocellular carcinoma after liver transplantation. Because of that, there cannot (yet) be firmly advised against other immunosuppressive strategies, such as the commonly used regimen of CNI (tacrolimus) monotherapy.

3.3 Standard anti-rejection therapy

Rejection is diagnosed and treated according to standard procedures by the institutional protocol.

3.4 Further treatment

At time of relapse the patient will receive best available treatment at the discretion of the treating physician. This includes (preferably) surgery, radiofrequency ablation (RFA), Microwave ablation (MWA), chemotherapy, radiation therapy, and other available treatment options.

3.5 Follow up protocol

Patients will be treated according to standard routines at the local transplantation unit. Oncological follow-up is performed according to the schedule below: during the first year the visits are every month with a CT scan of chest/abdomen every 3 months (see Table 1). If a relapse is observed, then further follow-up and treatment will be at the discretion of the treating physician.



Table 1.

Follow-up	Visit 1 st and 2 nd year	Visit 3 rd -10 th year
	(every 3 months)	(every 6 months)
Hb, Ht, leuco, plts, CRP, Na, K, Creat	Х	X
Bilirubin, ASAT, ALAT, ALP, Alb	Х	X
INR, cholesterol, glucose, HbA1c	Х	X
CEA,	Х	X
Weight	Х	X
BP	Х	X
CT chest/abdomen/pelvis	every 3 months	every 6 months
Colonoscopy (only in pts without	National protocol	National protocol
relapse)		

4. JUSTIFICATION

This clinical protocol was based on the SECA 2 protocol (Clinical trials.gov NCT01479608) and adjusted for the Netherlands, in cooperation with the team of the Oslo University, Norway, under guidance of Professor P.D. Line, Professor of Surgery, and Professor S. Dueland, Professor of Oncology. To optimize the protocol for the Netherlands we've performed mutual visits to Norwegian and Dutch centers, and we've organized seminars.

Based on the Norwegian experience and the excellent results they've published over the years, we believe that strictly selected patients can profit from liver transplantation in liver-only colorectal liver metastases. However, liver grafts are scarce, and the national waitlist mortality is nowadays between 15-20% in the Netherlands. [39] We've decided that for this reason, we should be more strict in our inclusion criteria than our Norwegian colleagues because they do not face a scarcity problem, their donation rate is much higher than in the Netherlands.

Furthermore, this protocol was discussed on a national level with several professionals involved in the care for patients with colorectal carcinoma and colorectal liver metastases, which is reflected by the above-mentioned participants. Contents of this protocol were discussed during national meetings of the Dutch Liver Transplantation Board (LOL) (1st of April 2019, 4th of December 2019 and 11th of May 2020).



5. EVALUATION

Despite the scarcity of donor livers, we advocate that strictly selected patients with irresectable CLM can be candidate for LTx, who would otherwise be condemned to poor outcome. Evaluation is warranted and planned annually during Dutch Liver Transplantation Board (LOL) meetings.

Evaluation will focus on:

- Overall survival after 3 years with the aim to reach \ge 60%.
- Disease free survival
- 90-day morbidity and mortality after transplantation
- The incidence of recurrence and administered treatment.

Given the fact that the inclusion criteria are strict, we believe maximum 10 patients per year will be included for transplantation. If inclusion rates are much lower, we might need to adjust the inclusion criteria. After inclusion of 20 patients the results will be presented, and a decision should be taken whether or not to proceed with this protocol.

UPDATE:

Meeting May 2023 during ILTS:

Adjustment protocol necessary because of low accrual rate (version 6) and new insights based on international publications.

Major proposed adjustments May 24:

- Right sided tumors not a strict exclusion
- pN2 not a strict exclusion
- Maximum 70 years at time of diagnosis NRCLM
- Maximum diameter and number of lesions not a strict contra-indication
- Start with analysing metabolic tumor volume (MTV) and Tumor Lesional Glycolysis (TLG) on PET scan pre-tx. [45]

6. REFERENCES

1. https://www.iknl.nl/kankersoorten/darmkanker/registratie/incidentie

2. Ferlay J, Soerjomataram I, Dikshit R, et al. Cancer incidence and mortality worldwide: sources, methods and major patterns in GLOBOCAN 2012. Int J Cancer 2015;136:E359–E386

3. Page AJ, Cosgrove DC, Herman JM, Pawlik TM. Advances in understanding of colorectal liver metastasis and implications for the clinic. Expert review of Gastroenterology & Hepatology. 2015;9:245-59.



4. Kopetz S, Chang GJ, Overman MJ, et al. Improved survival in metastatic colorectal cancer is associated with adoption of hepatic resection and improved chemotherapy. J Clin Oncol. 2009;27:3677–3683.

5. Pulitano C, Bodingbauer M, Aldrighetti L, de Jong MC, Castillo F, Schulick RD, et al. Liver resection for colorectal metastases in presence of extrahepatic disease: results from an international multi-institutional analysis. Annals of Surgical Oncology 2011;18:1380-8.

 Nordlinger B, Sorbye H, Glimelius B, et al. Perioperative FOLFOX4 chemotherapy and surgery versus surgery alone for resectable liver metastases from colorectal cancer (EORTC 40983): long-term results of a randomised, controlled, phase 3 trial. Lancet Oncol. 2013;14:1208– 1215.

7. Abdalla EK, Vauthey JN, Ellis LM, Ellis V, Pollock R, et al. Recurrence and outcome following hepatic resection, radiofrequency ablation, and combined resection/ablation for colorectal liver metastases. Annals of Surgery 2004;239:818-827.

8. D'Angelica MI, Correa-Gallego C, Paty PB, Cercek A, Gewirtz AN, Chou JF, et al. Phase II trial of hepatic artery infusional and systemic chemotherapy for patients with unresectable hepatic metastases from colorectal cancer: conversion to resection and long-term outcomes. Annals of Surgery 2015;261:353-60.

9. Kelly ME, Spolverato G, Le GN, Mavros MN, Doyle F, Pawlik TM, et al. Synchronous colorectal liver metastasis: a network meta-analysis review comparing classical, combined, and liver-first surgical strategies. Journal of Surgical Oncology. 2015;111:341-51.

10. Evrard S, Rivoire M, Arnaud J, Lermite E, Bellera C, Fonck M, et al. Unresectable colorectal cancer liver metastases treated by intraoperative radiofrequency ablation with or without resection. British Journal of Surgery 2012;99:558-65.

11. Masi G, Vasile E, Loupakis F, Cupini S, Fornaro L, Baldi G, et al. Randomized trial of two induction chemotherapy regimens in metastatic colorectal cancer: an updated analysis. Journal of the National Cancer Institute 2011;103:21-30.

12. Van Cutsem E, Kohne CH, Hitre E, Zaluski J, Chang Chien CR, Makhson A, et al. Cetuximab and chemotherapy as initial treatment for metastatic colorectal cancer. The New England Journal of Medicine 2009;360:1408-17.

13. Masi G, Loupakis F, Salvatore L, Fornaro L, Cremolini C, et al. Bevacizumab with FOLFOXIRI (irinotecan, oxaliplatin, fluorouracil, and folinate) as first-line treatment for metastatic colorectal cancer: a phase 2 trial. Lancet Oncology 2010;11:845-52



14. Gruenberger T, Bridgewater J, Chau I, Garcia Alfonso P, Rivoire M, Mudan S, et al. Bevacizumab plus mFOLFOX-6 or FOLFOXIRI in patients with initially unresectable liver metastases from colorectal cancer: the OLIVIA multinational randomised phase II trial. Annals of Oncology. 2015;26:702-8.

15. Cremolini C, Loupakis F, Antoniotti C, Lupi C, Sensi E, et al. FOLFOXIRI plus bevacizumab versus FOLFIRI plus bevacizumab as first-line treatment of patients with metastatic colorectal cancer: updated overall survival and molecular subgroup analyses of the open-label, phase 3 TRIBE study. Lancet Oncology 2015;16:1306-15

16. Cremolini C, Antoniotti C, Lonardi S, Bergamo F, Cortesi E, et al. Primary tumor sidedness and benefit from FOLFOXIRI plus bevacizumab as initial therapy for metastatic colorectal cancer. Retrospective analysis of the TRIBE trial by GONO. Ann Oncol 2018;7:1528-1534

17. Hibi T, Itano O, Shinoda M, Kitagawa Y. Liver transplantation for hepatobiliary malignancies: a new era of "Transplant Oncology" has begun. Surgery today. 2017;47:403-15.

18. Grossman EJ, Millis JM. Liver transplantation for non-hepatocellular carcinoma malignancy: Indications, limitations, and analysis of the current literature. Liver Transplantation. 2010;16:930-42.

19. Mazzaferro V, Regalia E, Doci R, Andreola S, Pulvirenti A, Bozzetti F, et al. Liver transplantation for the treatment of small hepatocellular carcinomas in patients with cirrhosis. The New England Journal of Medicine 1996;334:693-9.

20. Gores GJ. Liver transplantation for cholangiocarcinoma. Liver Transplantation 2015;21 Suppl 1:S32-3.

21. Mazzaferro V, Pulvirenti A, Coppa J. Neuroendocrine tumors metastatic to the liver: how to select patients for liver transplantation? Journal of Hepatology. 2007;47:460-6.

22. Moris D, Tsilimigras DI, Chakedis J, Beal EW, Felekouras E, Vernadakis S, et al. Liver transplantation for unresectable colorectal liver metastases: A systematic review. Journal of surgical oncology. 2017;116:288-97.

23. Guba M, Graeb C, Jauch KW, Geissler EK. Pro- and anti-cancer effects of immunosuppressive agents used in organ transplantation. Transplantation. 2004;77:1777-82.

24. Guba M, Pratschke J, Hugo C, Kramer BK, Pascher A, Pressmar K, et al. Early conversion to a sirolimus-based, calcineurin-inhibitor-free immunosuppression in the SMART trial: observational results at 24 and 36months after transplantation. Transplant International. 2012;25:416-23.

25. Guba M, von Breitenbuch P, Steinbauer M, Koehl G, Flegel S, Hornung M, et al. Rapamycin inhibits primary and metastatic tumor growth by antiangiogenesis: involvement of vascular endothelial growth factor. Nature medicine. 2002;8:128-35.



26. Duvoux C, Toso C. mTOR inhibitor therapy: Does it prevent HCC recurrence after liver transplantation? Transplantation reviews. 2015;29:168-74.

27. Geissler EK, Schnitzbauer AA, Zulke C, Lamby PE, Proneth A, Duvoux C, et al. Sirolimus Use in Liver Transplant Recipients With Hepatocellular Carcinoma: A Randomized, Multicenter, Open-Label Phase 3 Trial. Transplantation. 2016;100:116-25.

28. Hagness M, Foss A, Line PD, Scholz T, Jorgensen PF, Fosby B, et al. Liver transplantation for nonresectable liver metastases from colorectal cancer. Annals of Surgery. 2013;257:800-6.

29. Dueland S, Hagness M, Line PD, Guren TK, Tveit KM, Foss A. Is Liver Transplantation an Option in Colorectal Cancer Patients with Nonresectable Liver Metastases and Progression on All Lines of Standard Chemotherapy? Annals of Surgical Oncology. 2015;22:2195-200.

30. Andersen MH, Dueland S, Hagness M, Vidnes T, Finstad ED, Wahl AK, et al. Long-term quality of life after liver transplantation for non-resectable colorectal metastases confined to the liver. British Journal of Surgery 2018;26:713-9.

31. Hagness M, Foss A, Egge TS, Dueland S. Patterns of recurrence after liver transplantation for nonresectable liver metastases from colorectal cancer. Annals of Surgical Oncology. 2014;21:1323-9.

32. Dueland S, Guren TK, Hagness M, Glimelius B, Line PD, Pfeiffer P, et al. Chemotherapy or liver transplantation for nonresectable liver metastases from colorectal cancer? Annals of Surgery. 2015;261:956-60.

33. Dueland S, Syverseen T, Solheim JM, Solberg S, et al. Survival following liver transplantation for patients with nonresectable liver-only colorectal metastases. Annals of Surgery 2020;217:212-218

34. Bjornelv GMW, Dueland S, Line PD, Joranger P, Fretland AA, et al. Cost-effectiveness of liver transplantation in patients with colorectal metastases confined to the liver. Br J Surg 2019;106:132-141

35. Fong Y, Fortner J, Sun RI, Brennan MF, Blumgart LH. Clinical score for predicting recurrence after hepatic resection for metastatic colorectal cancer: analysis of 1001 consecutive cases. Annals of Surgery 1999;230:309-18

36. Pikoulis E, Margonis GA, Andreatos N, Sasaki K, Angelou A, Polychronidis G, et al. Prognostic Role of BRAF Mutations in Colorectal Cancer Liver Metastases. Anticancer Research 2016;36:4805-11.



37. Shimomura M, Hinoi T, Kuroda S, Adachi T, Kawaguchi Y, Sasada T, et al. Overexpression of hypoxia inducible factor-1 alpha is an independent risk factor for recurrence after curative resection of colorectal liver metastases. Annals of Surgical Oncology 2013;20 Suppl 3:S527-36.

38. Line PD, Hagness M, Berstad AE, Foss A, Dueland <u>S</u>.A. Novel Concept for Partial Liver Transplantation in Nonresectable Colorectal Liver Metastases: The RAPID Concept. Ann Surg._2015 Jul;262(1):e5-9.

39. Tieleman M, van den Berg AP, van Hoek B, Polak WG, Dubbeld J,Porte RJ, Konijn C, R A de Man, Hanssen BE, Metselaar HJ 'Will I Receive a Liver Transplant in Time?'; Chance of Survival of Patients on the Liver Transplant Waiting List. NTvG 2018;162:D2159

40. Smedman TM, Line PD, Hagness M, Syversveen T, Grut H, Dueland S, Liver Transplantation for unresectable colorectal liver metastases in patients and donors with extended criteria (SECA-II arm D study). BJS Open 2020;4:467-477

41. Bonney GK et al. Liver Transplantation for non-resectable colorectal liver metastases: the international Hepato-Pancreato-Biliary Association consensus guidelines. Lancet Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2021 Nov;6(11):933-946

42. Chun YS, Vauthey JN, Boonsirikamchai P, et al. Association of computed tomography morphologic criteria with pathologic response and survival in patients treated with bevacizumab for colorectal liver metastases. JAMA 2009; 302: 2338–44.

43. Dueland S, Yaqub S, Syversveen T, Carling U, Hagness M, Brudvik K, Line PD. Survival outcomes after portal vein embolization and liver resection compared with liver transplantation for patients with extensive colorectal cancer liver metastases. JAMA Surg 2021;156 (6): 550-557

44. Dueland S, Smedman M, Syversveen T, Grut H, Hagness M, Line PD. Long-term survival, prognostic factors, and selection of patients with colorectal cancer for liver transplant. A nonrandomized controlled trial. JAMA Surg 2023;158(9).

45. Grut H, Dueland S, Line PD, Revheim ME. The prognostic value of (18)F-FDG PET/CT prior to liver transplantation for nonresectable colorectal liver metastases. Eur J Nucl Med Mol Imaging. 2018 Feb;45(2):218-225.